
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Case No. __________ 

 
BERNARD ELAM, on Behalf of Himself 
and All Others Similarly Situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

MCDONALD’S CORPORATION, and 
RICHARD ESPIZITO, 

Defendants. 

 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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Plaintiff Bernard Elam (“Plaintiff”) brings this action on behalf of himself and all others 

similarly situated against the above-captioned Defendants McDonald’s Corporation (“McDonald’s”) 

and Richard Espizito (“Espizito”) and states: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and §2000 et seq.   Jurisdiction is 

founded upon 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and § 1343(a)(3) and (4) and the aforementioned statutory 

provisions. 

2. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 in that the acts giving rise 

to this action occurred in this District and because Defendants: 

(a) are authorized to conduct business in this District and has intentionally availed 

himself of the laws within this District; 

(b) do substantial business in this District; and 

(c) are subject to personal jurisdiction in this District. 

PARTIES 

3. At all times relevant to this matter, Plaintiff resided and continues to reside in this 

District.   

4. Defendant McDonald’s is a Delaware corporation, headquartered in Illinois, that does 

business in this District, including through its restaurant chains. 

5. At all material times, Defendant Espizito was a manager at a McDonald’s restaurant 

chain in this District. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

6. Plaintiff is a black male.  Plaintiff is a McDonald’s customer frequently.  On or about 

November 7, 2015, Plaintiff went to eat at a McDonald’s restaurant located at 6405 Nova Drive in 

Davie, Florida.   

7. After entering, Plaintiff purchased a meal.  The meal came with a drink, however.  

The drinks are self-service, where customers are responsible for filling their cups at fountain 

machine.  Plaintiff was not provided with a cup to secure his drink. 

8. Accordingly, Plaintiff approached the counter and politely asked Defendant Espizito 

for a cup for his drink. Defendant Espizito rudely refused to provide Plaintiff with a cup for his 

drink.  Another McDonald’s customer watched Defendant Espizito’s interaction with Plaintiff and 

came to console Plaintiff.  The other customer, another black male, told Plaintiff that Defendant 

Espizito had been rude to him as well. 

9. Defendant Espizito saw Plaintiff and the other customer talking.  Defendant Espizito 

became further enraged.  Defendant Espizito said to Plaintiff that, since you do not like your service, 

“Nigger I’ll kick your ass,” “Nigger you don’t know me.”  Defendant Espizito kept repeating the 

phrases at Plaintiff, “Nigger I’ll kick your ass,” “Nigger you don’t know me.”  Defendant Espizito 

kept pacing back and forth behind the counter, with his harms in an animated fashion, physically 

gesturing that he wanted to fight Plaintiff, and walking in front of the other McDonald’s employees 

who were preparing food.  Defendant Espizito was showing the employees how to treat customers, 

and some of the employees were grinning during Defendant Espizito’s tirade.  
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10. The whole establishment witnessed the scene.  While Defendant Espizito kept 

repeating the phrases at Plaintiff, “Nigger I’ll kick your ass,” “Nigger you don’t know me,” 

Defendant Espizito kept refusing Plaintiff his drink cup.  

11. Plaintiff was damaged by Defendant Espizito and Defendant McDonald’s.  Defendant 

Espizito’s words humiliated Plaintiff, threatened Plaintiff, and have severely scarred and emotionally 

and psychologically harmed Plaintiff.   Plaintiff called the police.  The police arrived and issued a 

report, which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, in which Defendant Espizito admits to calling Plaintiff 

a “nigger.”  Yet Defendant Espizito was unapologetic, justifying his words and actions toward 

Plaintiff due to Plaintiff allegedly being “disrespectful” and complaining about “poor customer 

service” with another customer.  

12. Defendant Espizito is a McDonald’s manager.  At all times, he acted on behalf of 

Defendant McDonald’s, sets store policy for Defendant McDonald’s, and his conduct is imputed to 

Defendant McDonald’s.  

13. Had Defendant McDonald’s set a corporate policy and training to prevent Defendant 

Espizito’s actions, the incident would have never occurred.  Without new training and policy 

changes to instruct Defendant Espizito and other managers regarding racial sensitivity and customer 

relations, McDonald’s customers face the same situation that occurred with Plaintiff, particularly 

given Defendant Espizito’s justifications for his actions in the police report.   The harm that 

McDonald’s customers face is capable of repetition yet evading review.  

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

14. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit on behalf of himself and the proposed Class members 

under Rule 23(b)(1) and (2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The proposed Class consists of: 



 

- 4 - 

All McDonald’s customers. 

15. Numerosity.  The members of the Class are so numerous that their individual joinder 

is impracticable.    

16. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact.  Common 

questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual Class members.  These common legal and factual questions include, but 

are not limited to, the following:  

(a) whether McDonald’s employee training policies and business practices are 

sufficient to prevent the incident with Plaintiff.  

17. Typicality.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class 

and Plaintiff has the same claims as those of the other Class members. 

18. Adequacy of Representation.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests 

of the members of the Class.  Plaintiff has retained counsel highly experienced in class action 

litigation, and Plaintiff intends to prosecute this action vigorously.  Plaintiff has no adverse or 

antagonistic interests to those of the Class. 

19.  The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would create 

a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class which 

would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing the Class. 

20. Defendant acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class with respect to the 

matters complained of herein, thereby making appropriate the relief sought herein with respect to the 

Class as a whole. 
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COUNT I 

Violation of 42 U.S.C. §1981   

21. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

22. Plaintiff is black. 

23. Defendants Espizito and McDonald’s did and intended to discriminate against 

Plaintiff on the basis of Plaintiff’s race, including through use of the term “Nigger” in denying 

Plaintiff a cup for his drink.  

24. The discrimination by Defendants Espizito and McDonald’s concerned one or more 

of the activities enumerated in 42 U.S.C. §1981, including purchasing food from McDonald’s and 

obtaining a drink that is part of the meal purchase.   

25. Plaintiff was damaged from the discrimination by Defendants Espizito and 

McDonald’s in an amount to be determined at trial.  

26. Plaintiff is entitled to money damages, and punitive damages.  

COUNT II 

Violation of 42 U.S.C. §2000a-3 

27. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

28. Defendants Espizito and McDonald’s have discriminated against Plaintiff, which 

constitutes conduct that would violate 42 U.S.C. §2000a.   There are reasonable grounds to believe 

that such discrimination could happen again, including because of Defendant Espizito’s justification 

to the police, as per the police report.  
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29. The discrimination is capable of repetition yet evading review.    

30. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief for the class, including the institution 

of new policies and training for McDonald’s managers to prevent future incidents of discrimination.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for a judgment: 

A. For declaratory and injunctive relief declaring illegal and enjoining, preliminarily and 

permanently, Defendants’ policies, practices, and customs of discrimination; 

B. For declaratory and injunctive relief declaring illegal and enjoining, preliminarily and 

permanently, Defendants’ policies, practices, and customs of discrimination; 

C. Certification of this action as a class action, designation of Plaintiff as class 

representative and undersigned counsel as class counsel;  

D. For compensatory, general, and special damages for Plaintiff against Defendants 

Espizito and McDonald’s; 

E. Exemplary damages as against Defendant in an amount sufficient to deter and to 

make an example of Defendants Espizito and McDonald’s; 

F.  Attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

G. The cost of this suit and such other relief as the court finds just and proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

DATED:  December 22, 2015 
 

CULLIN O’BRIEN LAW, P.A. 
6541 NE 21st Way 
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33308 
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Telephone: 561.676.6370 
Facsimile: 561.320.0285 
E-Mail: cullin@cullinobrienlaw.com 
 
 /s/Cullin O’Brien 
By:_________________________________ 

Cullin O’Brien 
 Florida Bar No.  597341 
 
 
BOZANIC LAW, P.A. 
1200 Brickell Avenue 
Suite 1800 
Miami, FL 33131 
Telephone: 305.643.1040 
Facsimile: 305.356.7154 
E-Mail: Zeljka@bozaniclaw.com 
 
 /s/Zeljka Bozanic 
By:_________________________________ 

Zeljka Bozanic 
 Florida Bar No.  23707 
 
 
ROBINSON CADDY LAW GROUP, P.A. 
633 S. Andrews Avenue 
Suite 101 
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Telephone: 954.399.2746 
Facsimile: 954.527.4228 
E-Mail: sueann@robinsoncaddylaw.com 
 
 /s/Sue-Ann Robinson Caddy 
By:_________________________________ 

Sue-Ann Robinson Caddy 
 Florida Bar No.  29463 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Class 

 

 
 


